
November 4, 2019

 
Dear Inspector General Greenblatt: 

Wild Horse Education (WHE) writes to request an investigation by your office into viola-
tions of the ethics rules and pledges by the Bureau of Land Management (BLM) Deputy 
Director with acting authority of the director, William Perry Pendley.

We respectfully request that the Inspector General conduct a thorough investigation of the mat-
ters addressed in this complaint and advise the public of all findings and conclusions. 

Upon entering public service, all full-time political appointees sign a binding ethics pledge oblig-
ated by Executive Order 13770, in which they agree to recuse from certain matters involving 
former employers or clients, and affirm that the pledge’s ethical obligations “are binding on me 
and are enforceable under law.”1 

Under the ethics pledge, all full-time political appointees cannot participate for two years after 
appointment in particular matters involving specific parties in which a former employer or former 

client is or represents a party.2  Importantly, this restriction bars appointees from participating in 
closed meetings or communications 

William Perry Pendley, in his capacity as BLM Deputy Director with acting authority of Director, 
proposes to change policy, authorities and standard protocol of the BLM Wild Horse and Burro 
program that would directly enrich, support and promote agenda items of those on his recusal 
list.

__________

1. Exec. Order No. 13770, 82 Fed. Reg. 9333, § 1 (Jan. 28, 2017) (“Ethics Pledge”).

2.  Id. § 1(6).  



related to their official duties with a former employer or client,3 and from open meetings with a 
former employer or client that are focused on particular matters involving specific parties.4 The 
purpose of this restriction is “to address concerns that former employers and clients may appear 
to have privileged access, which they may exploit to influence an appointee…”

The Foundation For Ethical Behavior for Department of Interior employees, Executive Order 
12674, states:

You shall endeavor to avoid any actions creating the appearance that you are violating the 
law, the Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the Executive Branch (5 C.F.R. § 
part 2635), DOI Supplemental ethics regulations, or Executive Order 12674.

When a DOI appointee is working on a particular matter involving specific parties, a reason-
able person with knowledge of the relevant facts would question the employee's impar-
tiality… recusal is required.

The sweeping changes to, and extreme position of Mr. Pendley on the, BLM Wild Horse and 
Burro program, represent the exact conflict reflected within the law.

Furthermore, the BLM Report to Congress has not been made public on the Wild Horse and 
Burro program. Under Pendley the report is now 3 months late and, according to statements 
made by Pendley at the advisory board meeting, is back in draft form. Documents created, with 
the involvement of individuals on the recusal list, are being utilized to heavily influence that re-
port.

Pendley is making statements that are extreme, and will have consequence to the public inter-
est that, once done, can not be undone. 

Any reasonable person with knowledge of the facts would question impartiality is 
the standard at which ethics issues require and investigation and disclosure. 

Any reasonable person would question the impartiality of William Pendley, in his capacity at the 
bureau, in light of his focus on “wild horses as the greatest threat to public lands.” 

______

3. Id. § 2(s). 

4. Id. at § 2(s



Penally has openly stated that he did not cite climate change, as an example, because he has 
not been fully briefed on the issue due to involvement of those on his recusal list. Society of En-
vironmental Journalists (SEJ) conference Oct. 2019.

The actions of Mr Pendley pertaining to the BLM Wild Horse and Burro Program, and the 
agency under his direction, are in direct agreement with, reflect positions actively advocated for 
through lobby efforts, that will directly benefit entities on the recusal list. Any reasonable person 
would draw a conclusion of impropriety. 

Wyoming Stock Growers Association

Wyoming Farm Bureau Federation

Montana Farm Bureau Federation

Idaho Farm Bureau Federation

Utah Farm Bureau Federation

Colorado Farm Bureau Federation

Examples:

Both the Wyoming Stock Growers Association and Montana Farm Bureau Federation are part-
nering with BLM on a management strategy, through an organization where both entities, and 
their members, participate. The document created by this entity through “The Summit of the 
Wild Horse” is being incorporated into the BLM report to Congress under Mr. Pendley.

Many of the (extreme) viewpoints, reflected in statements made by Mr. Pendley to media, are 
rooted in the Utah Farm Bureau official position.  (attached)

We ask that you investigate inappropriate actions by Mr. Pendley in his capacity as 
Deputy Director (with acting authority of the Director) in regards to the Wild Horse and 
Burro Program that directly benefit entities on his recusal list.

Documents associated with the Wild Horse and Burro Program exception to, interaction 
with members on, the recusal list, were requested through the Freedom of Information 
Act (FOIA). The request has been placed on a “complex track” by the agency with an an-
swer expected in no less than three months time. 



The public, and Congress, are being obstructed from informed and adequate participa-
tion in process as sweeping changes to the wild horse program are debated. There is a 
high likelihood of inappropriate behavior by Mr. Pendley. 

There is a real danger that due to a lack of ethics oversight, sweeping legislative changes 
will create long lasting consequence to public resources. 

We ask your prompt attention to this matter.

If your office needs any additional information, please do not hesitate to contact us.

Sincerely, 

Laura Leigh  
President, Wild Horse Education  
representing myself, our organization and our members 
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